

City of Temecula

Management Compensation Plan

Effective July 8, 2025 (Adopted July 8, 2025)

Table of Contents

| Section 1: | Introduction | 3 |
|------------|---|----|
| Section 2: | Personnel Files | 3 |
| 2.1 | Derogatory Material | 3 |
| 2.2 | Derogatory Material on File | 4 |
| 2.3 | Customer/Citizen Letters of Commendation | |
| Section 3: | Hours of Work | 4 |
| 3.1 | Participation | |
| 3.2 | Work Week | |
| 3.4 | Alternating Day Off Designation | |
| 3.5 | Flexible Working Hours | |
| | Compensation Adjustments | |
| 4.1 | Longevity Compensation | |
| 4.2 | Special Merit Pay | |
| 4.3 | Bilingual Pay | |
| 4.4 | Notary Pay | |
| 4.5 | Call-Out Pay | |
| 4.6 | Stand-By Pay | |
| 4.7 | PERS Reportability | |
| Section 5: | Holiday Pay | |
| 5.1 | Assigned Schedule for Holiday Pay | |
| 5.2 | Pro-Rated Holiday Pay | |
| 5.3 | Scheduled to Work a Holiday | 9 |
| 5.4 | Work Plan for Holiday Pay on Employee's Scheduled Day Off | 9 |
| 5.5 | Floating Holiday | |
| Section 6: | City Holidays | |
| | Overtime | |
| 7.1 | Time Worked | |
| Section 8: | Overtime Authorization | 10 |
| | Compensatory Time | |
| 9.1 | Accrual | |
| 9.2 | Time Used for Leave | |
| 9.3 | Cash Out | |
| | : Shift Differential Pay | |
| | : Temporary Upgrade Assignment | |
| | Salary | |
| 11.2 | Length of Temporary Upgrade Assignment | |
| 11.3 | Temporary Upgrade Work Exclusions | |
| | : Probationary Periods | |
| 12.1 | Promotional and Transfer Probation | |
| | Eligibility for Merit Increases/Performance Evaluations | |
| 13.1 | Performance Evaluations | 14 |
| 13.1 | Overdue Evaluations | |
| _ | : Tuition Reimbursement | |
| 14.1 | Required Educational or Training Courses | |
| 14.1 | Training Time | |
| 14.3 | Reimbursement | |
| _ | : Employee Computer Purchase Program | |
| | . =:::p:o+oo oo:::pato: | |

| Section 16 | 6: Paid Leave | 16 |
|------------|---|---------|
| 16.1 | Comprehensive Annual Leave | 16 |
| 16.2 | CAL Donations | |
| 16.3 | Executive and Administrative Leave | |
| 16.4 | CAL/Executive/Administrative Leave Time Cash Out | |
| 16.5 | Bereavement Leave | |
| 16.6 | Jury Duty and Court Related Absences | |
| Section 17 | 7: Leave of Absence under FMLA, CFRA and PDL | 19 |
| 17.1 | Statement of Policy | |
| 17.2 | Employee Notice of Leave | |
| 17.3 | Employee Benefits While on Leave | |
| 17.4 | Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves | |
| 17.5 | Medical Certification | |
| 17.6 | Reinstatement upon Return from Leave | |
| 17.7 | Required Forms | |
| 17.8 | Pregnancy Disability Leave | |
| 17.9 | Bonding Leave | |
| | 3: Military Leave | |
| Section 19 | 9: Leaves of Absence Without Pay | |
| 19.1 | Benefits While on Leave without Pay | |
| 19.2 | Procedure for Requesting Leave of Absence without Pay | |
| 19.3 | Procedure for Unforeseen Circumstances | 25 |
| Administra | ation of Leaves of Absence Without Pay shall be pursuant to | the |
| | Administrative Guideline | |
| Section 20 | D: Health and Wellness Benefits | |
| 20.1 | Health Coverage | 26 |
| 20.2 | Dental Coverage | 27 |
| 20.3 | Vision Coverage | 27 |
| 20.4 | Disability Insurance | |
| 20.5 | Flexible Spending Account | |
| 20.6 | Retiree Medical, Dental and Vision Premium Reimbursement | |
| Section 2 | 1: Life Insurance | 29 |
| Section 22 | 2: Retirement | 29 |
| Section 23 | 3: Deferred Compensation | 31 |
| Section 24 | 4: Alcohol and Drug Policy | 31 |
| | 5: Uniform Allowance and Safety Footwear Allowance | |
| | 6: Reasonable Accommodation of Employees with Disabilities | |
| | 7: Discipline | |
| | 3: Classifications Covered under this Plan | |
| | 9: Reclassifications | |
| 29.1 | Reclassification Studies | |
| 29.1 | Reclassification Request Process | |
| 29.2 | Reclassification Implementation | |
| | A: Section 4 Compensation Adjustments | |
| | | .) / 4 |

Section 1: Introduction

This Management Compensation Plan (MCP) will govern the compensation and schedule of benefits for Confidential, Management, and Executive Management employees of the City of Temecula (City).

Definitions

- Executive Management: Employees who are either Department Directors or defined as Executive Management by the Temecula Municipal Code or by City Policy. Executive Management employees are generally exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) overtime requirements. This exemption is based upon the fact that all executive management employees have passed the salary and duty tests required for this exemption.
- 2. **Management**: All employees defined as Management employees by the Temecula Municipal Code or City policy. Management employees are generally exempt from FLSA overtime requirements. This exemption is based upon the fact that all management employees have passed the salary and duty tests required for this exemption.
- 3. Confidential: Confidential Employees are defined as an employee whose duties normally require access to confidential information; an employee who acts in a confidential capacity who contributes significantly to the development of management policies and procedures. Confidential employees will be reviewed on a classification-by-classification basis to determine if they are or are not eligible for exempt status.

Section 2: Personnel Files

The official personnel file of each employee shall be maintained in the Human Resources Department. An employee may authorize a supervisor/manager in writing to review or obtain copies of the employee's file with the exception of material that includes ratings, reports or records which are obtained prior to the employment of the employee involved.

2.1 Derogatory Material

Derogatory written materials (generally written reprimands and disciplinary suspension, excluding performance evaluation) shall be removed from an employee's official file in the Human Resources Department, providing there have been no further occurrences of documented violations, at the employee's request. Written reprimands are eligible to be removed, after two (2) years and disciplinary suspension after three (3) years if above criteria have been met. In order for the derogatory written materials to be removed, Human Resources must receive a formal written request from the employee to remove such materials.

2.2 Derogatory Material on File

Employees shall be provided a copy of any derogatory material that is to be placed in their official file.

2.3 Customer/Citizen Letters of Commendation

All customer or citizen letters of a positive nature and/or any City commendations, letters of achievements and recognition will be placed in the employee's personnel file, at the employee's request.

Section 3: Hours of Work

The City has an absolute right to assign work schedules for City employees. If the City proposes to change the work schedule of a classification or an employee in a classification, covered by this plan, the City will provide the employee with a written notice which will include the valid business need for the schedule modification. Such written notice will be provided at least ten (10) business days in advance of any change.

The City will continue to offer alternative Work Plans where business needs (e.g., customer service and employee productivity) are prioritized and uncompromised. Examples of alternative Work Plans include:

- 9/80 Work Plan: an employee works nine days in a two-workweek period, but scheduled to work 40 hours in either workweek.
- 4/10 Work Plan: an employee works 4 10-hour days in a workweek for a total of 40 scheduled work hours.

Unlike non-exempt employees, exempt employees receive a salary for their services and are not responsible for reporting their work hours on an hour for hour basis. Management employees will receive full day compensation when hours worked, on that day, is only partial, with the understanding that Management (exempt) employees work more than an average of 40-hours per week.

3.1 Participation

Employees have the option of participating in an alternative Work Plans if the Department Director has agreed, and the affected classification is eligible based upon the scheduling and service needs of the department. Upon Department Director approval, employees may change between Work Plans on a temporary or on-going basis.

3.2 Work Week

5/40 and 4/10 work week defined: for the purpose of computing overtime, the workweek for employees who work the 5/40 or 4/10 schedule is a seven (7) day period beginning at 12:01 a.m. on each Saturday and ending at midnight on each Friday.

9/80 work week defined: for the purpose of computing overtime, the work week for regular employees who work the 9/80 schedule is a seven (7) day period beginning exactly four hours after the start time of the regular employee's work schedule on the day of the week the employee is scheduled to work eight (8) hours.

3.4 Alternating Day Off Designation

Friday will be the only alternating day off during the week unless modified by the Department Director. Executive Staff member modifications must be approved by the City Manager.

3.5 Flexible Working Hours

An employee may flex their work hours within the assigned work schedule (9/80 vs. traditional) with Department Director approval. Flexible work hours are defined as start and stop times within a day which may vary, including lunch duration, as long as it stays within their assigned work schedule and is in accordance with relevant labor laws.

Section 4: Compensation Adjustments

Effective July 1, 2019, all employees subject to this Management Compensation Plan shall receive a Cost of Living Adjustment equivalent to the lower of either the percentage change of the CPI for Urban and Clerical Workers for Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario, CA for January 2019 compared to January 2018, or 3%. If the CPI comparison is negative, the Cost of Living Adjustment shall be 0%.

Effective the first pay period in Fiscal Year 2022-23, the City will implement the findings of a compensation study to be completed in Spring 2022. The City shall determine the methodology used for conducting and implementing the compensation study. Comparable cities used in the compensation study shall include the following cities: Carlsbad, Escondido, Menifee, Moreno Valley, Murrieta, Oceanside, Poway, San Marcos and Vista.

Effective the first pay periods in Fiscal Year 2023-24, 2024-25 and 2025-26 Employees shall be entitled to a cost of living adjustment (COLA) in base salary. The COLA shall be the lesser of either the percentage change in the Annual Consumer Price Index for Urban and Clerical Workers (CPI-W) for all items in Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario, CA for the prior calendar year as compared to the Annual CPI-W of two calendar years prior, or the percentage Change in Recurring Revenue of the City's primary operating funds (General Fund 001, Measure S Fund 002, Gas Tax 100 and the Temecula Community Services District Fund 190) of the prior fiscal year as compared to two fiscal years prior. Recurring revenue is defined as ongoing taxes (i.e. Sales Tax, Measure S Tax, Property Tax, etc.), franchise fees, charges for services, fines and forfeitures, use of money and property, program revenue, and intergovernmental revenues, and excludes any one-time revenue. Attached as Appendix "A" is the list of recurring revenue account codes to be used in this calculation and an example of the Change in Recurring Revenue calculation. This list of account codes may be modified by the Finance Department if necessary to meet the needs of the City,In the event the CPI-W or the Change in Recurring Revenue is below 0% for a given year, the COLA for that year will be 0%.

4.1 Longevity Compensation

Upon completion of 10 years of City Service, employees covered by this plan will receive a one time lump sum Longevity Bonus of \$350.

Upon completion of 15 years of City Service, employees covered by this plan will receive a one time lump sum Longevity Bonus of \$500.

Upon completion of 20 years of City Service, employees covered by this plan will receive a one time lump sum Longevity Bonus of \$750.

Upon completion of 25 years of City Service, employees covered by this plan will receive a one time lump sum Longevity Bonus of \$1,000.

4.2 Special Merit Pay

In an effort to recognize and reward sustained superior performance, the City will provide a Special Merit Pay Program to eligible employees.

Employees will be eligible for \$500 in Special Merit Pay, on their service anniversary date, after completing five (5) years of service if they have an overall rating of "Commendable" or "Outstanding" on three out of their last five annual evaluations. The overall rating needs to be Commendable or Outstanding including + or –. Combination ratings such as Typically Meets/Commendable (T/C) will not be counted as an eligible rating. Should there be a change to the rating categories as a result of revisions to the City's Performance Evaluation format, the City agrees to discuss needed adjustments to this provision.

If an employee's annual evaluation is 90 days overdue and they are eligible for Special Merit Pay, a rating of "Commendable" or "Outstanding" will be required on only two out of the employee's last four annual evaluations. The Special Merit Pay will be paid to an eligible employee as soon as practicable following the 90 day period.

Executive Staff members are not eligible for Special Merit Pay as outlined in this section.

4.3 Bilingual Pay

Employees, who have demonstrated the ability, by passing an annual City administered test, to translate a second language (including American Sign Language), will receive \$50 per pay period for bilingual compensation. Bilingual Pay shall be limited to one language per employee.

This bilingual compensation is provided as an incentive to recruit and retain bilingual employees in order to ensure that the City provides quality customer service to residents.

For the purpose of this policy, the City will provide bilingual compensation to a maximum of two employees in each operating department, per language where there is a business need for translation. If more than two employees are eligible, actual compensation will be awarded based on the two highest scores on the City administered

test. Based on service level needs, the number of eligible employees can be modified by the City Manager or designee to meet the City's needs.

Employees shall not be paid Bilingual Pay while on end-of-service leave as defined in Section 16.4.

4.4 Notary Pay

The City will provide \$50 per pay period to employees who maintain a public notary and who are designated by the City as a Public Notary.

Employees shall not be paid Notary Pay while on end-of-service leave as defined in Section 16.4.

4.5 Call-Out Pay

This Section applies only to FLSA non-exempt regular employees in the IT Classification Series.

Call-out duty occurs when the City employee is required to perform services either remotely or on-site which are not in conjunction with a regularly scheduled work shift.

Regular employees who are designated as on stand-by status when called out will be compensated from the time they leave their residence or begin remote work to the time that they return to their residence or end remote work. Employees who are not designated on stand-by status and are called out will receive compensation for the time they leave their residence or begin remote work to the time that they leave the duty station or end remote work.

Regular employees who have a call-out will be credited with all hours worked; with a minimum of three (3) hours, including travel time, at one and one-half times the regular (non-overtime) rate of pay. In addition, call-out Pay will be paid to employees and cannot be included in any Comp Time bank.

4.6 Stand-By Pay

This Article applies only to FLSA non-exempt regular employees in the IT Classification Series.

In any situation where an employee has been in a designated "stand-by" status and is to remain on-call, the employee shall be compensated at the rate of \$230 for each seven (7) day stand-by period or pro-rated on a daily basis (\$32.86/day). Employees who are designated as on stand-by status when called out will be compensated from the time they leave their residence or begin remote work to the time that they return to their residence or end remote work. Employees may also be designated on stand-by status for individual days. Compensation for daily stand-by pay will be computed at 1/7 of the weekly amount described above.

Assignments for stand-by duty will be scheduled on a rotational basis. This 7-day standby period includes designated weekdays off that are part of an alternative Work Plan, as well as weekends and holidays.

Employees on stand-by status shall be required, at all times, to carry a functioning cell phone and be able to respond within 15 minutes of being contacted. The City shall provide a cell phone upon request; however, employees may opt to use their own mobile device(s) as allowed in the City's technology use policies. Upon responding, the employee must give an estimated response time to the caller. In addition, employees are expected to maintain a level of fitness for duty that is required for your normal work schedule.

Employees designated as stand-by on a City holiday will receive an additional \$50 for that day.

- A: Substitution of stand-by duty: Supervisor must approve all substitutions. There are two (2) types of substitutions related to stand by duty, as follows:
 - Straight Substitution: Employee may request co-worker substitution, subject to approval of supervisor with minimum of 48 hours' notice. Substitutions shall not be assigned between employees. The substituting employee will receive the prorated daily rate of 1/7 of weekly amount described above for each standby duty day.
 - 2. Emergency Substitution: In an emergency situation (employee or City related), or with less than 48 hours prior notice, your supervisor shall assign a qualified substitute, (including additional employees) to provide standby coverage. The substituting employee will receive the prorated daily rate of 1/7 of weekly amount described above for each standby duty day.

4.7 PERS Reportability

The City makes no representation as to whether any of the compensation or payments in this MCP are subject to CalPERS service credit or pensionable income. Any determination by CalPERS to not fully credit the compensation and/or service time provided under this MCP is outside of the City's control.

Section 5: Holiday Pay

5.1 Assigned Schedule for Holiday Pay

Based upon the eligible employee's assigned schedule, they will receive holiday pay for hours worked on the applicable City observed holiday.

5.2 Pro-Rated Holiday Pay

Regular part-time employees receive holiday pay on a pro-rated basis based on the employee's assigned work schedule.

5.3 Scheduled to Work a Holiday

If a Confidential Non-exempt Employee is required to work on a holiday, then that employee will be paid for the actual hours of work at the rate of one and one half times that employee's regular rate of pay plus a shift differential, in accordance with Section 10. In addition, the employee will be paid holiday pay in accordance with Section 5.1 or 5.2.

5.4 Work Plan for Holiday Pay on Employee's Scheduled Day Off

If a holiday occurs on an employee's scheduled day off, the employee will receive holiday pay in the amount of eight (8), nine (9), or ten (10) hour increments, as applicable, preceding the observed holiday. Alternatively, the City Manager may determine another date in which the holiday will be observed.

5.5 Floating Holiday

Based upon the eligible employee's assigned schedule, a floating holiday will be provided at the beginning of each fiscal year. The floating holiday hours will be pro-rated at the time of hire. When using a floating holiday, employee must use the hours in one block. The floating holiday cannot be used to make up time for being short time during a regular workday. The floating holiday needs to be treated as a regular City observed holiday. The floating holiday may not be carried over year to year and cannot be cashed out at the end of a fiscal year.

Section 6: City Holidays

Benefitted employees receive a total of 12 City holidays each calendar year. The City observes the following 12 fixed holidays:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday
President's Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Veteran's Day
Thanksgiving Day
Friday following Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Eve
Christmas Day
New Year's Eve

Observance: holidays which fall on a Saturday will normally be observed on the preceding Friday, holidays which fall on a Sunday will normally be observed on the following Monday. The City Manager will determine the actual dates on which holidays will be observed each year.

Either an eight (8), nine (9), or ten (10) hour floating holiday is provided at the beginning of each fiscal year depending on the employee's assigned work plan at the time floating holidays are issued. The floating holiday hours will be pro-rated at the time of hire. When using a floating

holiday, the employee must use the hours in one block. The floating holiday cannot be used to make up time for being short time during a regular workday. The floating holiday needs to be treated as a regular City observed holiday. The floating holiday may not be carried over year to year and cannot be cashed out at the end of a fiscal year or upon separation of employment.

Eligibility: regular employees who are on paid status for their entire regular work shifts immediately prior to and immediately following the holiday will be paid for the holiday. Workers' Compensation, short-term, and long-term disability payments shall be considered paid status for the purpose of eligibility.

Section 7: Overtime

All non-exempt employees required to perform in excess of 40 hours in a work week, as defined in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, shall receive compensation at the rate of time and one-half of the employee's regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of 40 hours. All employees required to perform in excess of 12 hours in a workday shall receive compensation at the rate of double time of the employee's regular rate of pay for those hours in excess of 12 hours. For the purposes of determining double time, a work day is defined as the 24-hour period beginning at 12:00AM and ending at 11:59:59PM.

In determining an employee's eligibility for overtime, paid and unpaid time off, as listed below, shall be excluded from the total hours worked. Also excluded are duty free lunches, travel time to and from work, and time spent conducting bona fide volunteer activities. Paid time off includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- A. Unscheduled Comprehensive Annual Leave
- B. Unscheduled Compensatory Time
- C. Administrative Leave
- D. Jury Duty
- E. Bereavement Leave
- F. Military Leave

There shall be no pyramiding of overtime, except for shift differential pay. Time worked shall be computed by rounding to the nearest 15 minute increment. As defined, if less than 7 minutes are worked then time worked will be rounded down and if the employee works between 7 and 15 minutes, then time worked will be rounded up. Employees may elect to receive compensation or bank the overtime as Compensatory Time. In addition the following provisions apply.

7.1 Time Worked

Time worked: for purposes of this section, hours worked include only those hours in which the employee performs services authorized by the City.

Section 8: Overtime Authorization

No non-exempt employee shall work overtime unless the working of overtime hours has been specifically authorized in advance, by the employee's supervisor.

Violations of this section can result in disciplinary actions pursuant to the City's Disciplinary Policy.

Section 9: Compensatory Time

In lieu of receiving overtime pay pursuant to Section 7 (Overtime) and Section 8 (Overtime Authorization) a non-exempt employee may elect to receive compensatory time off on a time and one-half basis for each hour worked. Compensatory Time Off is considered permissive leave and subject to department approval consistent with Section 17 (Paid Leave). In addition, the following shall apply regulating the usage of compensatory time off:

9.1 Accrual

No employee shall accrue more than 80 hours of Compensatory Time.

9.2 Time Used for Leave

Compensatory Time may be used for leave subject to scheduling in accordance with Section 17 (Paid Leave) of this MCP.

9.3 Cash Out

All Compensatory Time that is available to a non-exempt employee will be cashed out, at full value, and given to the employee in a pay period between November 15 and December 10. The Compensatory Time cash out will be paid out on a separate check. Under sole discretion of the City Manager, employees may carryover a maximum of 80 hours of Compensatory Time that would need to be used within 60 days. Requests to carry over Compensatory Time shall be made in writing to the Human Resources Department by November 1st.

Section 10: Shift Differential Pay

Non-exempt employees are eligible to receive a 5% shift differential (above their appropriate rate of pay) for all hours worked on Sundays, holidays, as well as the hours worked between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. Any overtime worked on Sundays, holidays and the hours between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. will be based on the shift differential overtime rate.

Employees are eligible to receive a 5% split shift differential (above their appropriate rate of pay) for all hours worked in a day where their regular shift is split into segments with two hours or more between segments.

Section 11: Temporary Upgrade Assignment

As a result of vacancies, leaves of absence or other reasons, it may be necessary to temporarily reassign all or a portion of the duties of an authorized position to another employee. When such assignments require the employee to assume additional duties, which are outside the scope of the employee's regular assignment, it is appropriate to adjust the employee's salary to reflect the interim changes. This policy allows the City to temporarily upgrade the affective employee.

It is the responsibility of the Department Director to notify the Human Resources Department, in writing, to implement the temporary upgrade for any affected employee.

With the approval of the City Manager, an employee may be temporarily appointed to a higher level classification to perform additional duties, on an interim basis, provided that all the following criteria are satisfied:

- A. The higher level position is approved by the City Manager for new or continued staffing:
- B. The duties of the higher level position are outside of the scope of the employee's current classification, as determined by the City Manager or designee;
- C. The assignment is expected to continue for at least 15 business days, but not longer than one (1) calendar year; and,
- D. The employee possesses the minimum qualifications or the requisite knowledge, skills and abilities to perform the work of the higher classification.

11.1 Salary

If an employee is placed in a temporary upgrade assignment as a result of a vacancy or leave of absence, the salary of the employee shall be increased between 5% and 10% for the period of the temporary assignment, or to the first step in the range of the temporary classification, whichever is greater. An employee who is temporarily upgraded shall be subject to the FLSA designation (i.e., exempt vs. non-exempt) of the temporary upgrade position. Employees who are non-exempt, but assume an exempt temporary upgrade assignment shall accrue Administrative/Executive Leave on a pro-rated basis as consistent with the accrual assigned to the assumed Classification in the Management Compensation Plan.

For temporary upgrade assignments that are not related to a vacancy or leave of absence, the employee shall be compensated on an hour-for-hour basis for each instance where the higher classification work is assigned. Temporary upgrade work must be reported on the timesheet that corresponds with the pay period it was worked. The employee shall be compensated at a rate equivalent to a 5-10% increase, or to the first step in the range of the higher classification, whichever is greater. The employee's FLSA designation (i.e., exempt vs. non-exempt) will not change nor will the employee be eligible for Administrative/Executive Leave.

If a position is created (i.e., a classification does not already exist) for a temporary upgrade assignment, the range shall be set at the lowest range found in the Classification Level in the Classification Structure following an internal assessment justifying said placement.

The difference between an employee's usual pay and temporary upgrade pay will only be reported to CalPERS as income to the extent permissible by law. Human Resources will provide copies of, and /or citations to, the applicable law(s) upon request of the employee.

11.2 Length of Temporary Upgrade Assignment

The City Manager, or designee, shall establish the effective dates of a temporary upgrade assignment. In addition, the employee assigned to perform the duties of a higher classification shall not serve for more than 180 calendar days in a higher classification unless the vacancy is ongoing due to extenuating circumstances and approved by the City Manager.

In the event an employee serves in a temporary upgrade assignment for more than 1-year, the employee will be eligible for a review evaluating their performance in the temporary upgraded assignment. A compensation increase may be granted as a result of this review if the employee is not at the top step of the upgraded assignment salary range. Consistent with the temporary upgrade assignment, any compensation increase associated with an annual review will also expire upon completion of the temporary upgrade assignment.

Under no circumstances shall compensation for a temporary upgrade assignment to issued more than ninety (90) days retroactively, unless approved by the City Manager.

11.3 Temporary Upgrade Work Exclusions

In an effort to assist employees in obtaining experience or training for future promotional opportunities, employees may from time-to-time volunteer to perform the duties of a higher job classification. Such voluntary performance on the part of the employee shall not be eligible for compensation as a temporary upgrade assignment.

It is understood that, from time to time, a Department Director may assign a temporary project or task to an employee which requires a higher level of responsibility, knowledge, skills, and/or abilities than is outlined in his/her current Classification Specification. It is recognized that the infrequent assigning of such project or tasks is meant to be non-habitual and does not constitute out of classification work subject to reclassification process as outlined in Section 29 (Reclassifications).

Section 12: Probationary Periods

All appointments, excluding promotional appointments, shall be subject to a probationary period of not less than one year of employment in the position. An employee on their original probation shall receive an evaluation at three months, six months and nine months. The City can extend probation for a maximum of six months. Employees will successfully pass probation if no extension is implemented and if no evaluation is provided by the last day of the probationary period. Passing probation is also not contingent on an employee receiving a probationary evaluation on time.

12.1 Promotional and Transfer Probation

Promotional and transfer probationary appointments shall be subject to a probationary period of not less than six months of employment in the position. During the probation period, the employee may be rejected at any time regardless of service without the right of a hearing or appeal. Any employee rejected during a promotional probation to which

they have been promoted shall be reinstated to a position in the class from which they were promoted unless they were discharged for cause from the City.

Section 13: Eligibility for Merit Increases/Performance Evaluations

Each probationary or regular employee will be considered for, but is not guaranteed, a merit adjustment annually at their regular or adjusted performance evaluation date. Merit adjustments may be denied, deferred for future consideration, or granted at .5, 1, or 1.5 step intervals, at the Department Director's discretion and subject to City Manager's approval. Annual Performance Evaluation meetings will be completed within 30 days of the employee's performance evaluation due date.

Regular and Promotional Probationary employees are eligible for merit adjustments at or near the completion of their one year of continuous service in their current position and annually thereafter, provided that the employee is not a Y-Rated employee, has not changed positions, or is not at the maximum rate for their salary range.

Approved merit adjustments will be retro-active to the official evaluation due date.

13.1 Performance Evaluations

The Management Evaluation Program (MEP), a paperless system located in NEOGOV will be used for the employees covered by this MCP. The MEP will be utilized in evaluating an employee's performance, setting goals and objectives and recommending adjustments to annual compensation. The MEP will utilize five ratings for each evaluation criteria: Outstanding, Commendable, Typically Meets, Improvement Needed, and Unsatisfactory. Newly hired Management employees will be evaluated at the completion of three, six, nine, and 12 months, and annually thereafter.

13.2 Overdue Evaluations

Human Resources and Supervisory staff will work cooperatively to ensure the timely presentation of annual evaluations. At 60 days past the official evaluation due date, the Director of Human Resources will meet with the appropriate Department Director, of the affected employee, at which time a date will be determined to give the evaluation. If an annual evaluation becomes 90 days overdue, an automatic step increase will be given (if applicable).

Section 14: Tuition Reimbursement

When an employee is ready to enroll in classes that they would like to receive tuition reimbursement for, they must first submit a tuition reimbursement pre-approval form to their supervisor. If approved, the supervisor, in turn, would submit the pre-approval form to Human Resources for consideration. As a condition of being reimbursed, the employee agrees to continue employment with the City for one year past the date of the receipt of the reimbursement. If the employee leaves the City, the amount of the reimbursement will be due to the City. Reimbursement is limited to no more than \$1,500 for training or educational expenses in any one fiscal year. Additional funds may be approved on appeal to the City Manager.

14.1 Required Educational or Training Courses

Any educational or training course that is a requirement for continuation of employment or is an identified part of a job evaluation shall be paid for by the City. Any other educational or training course that is job related shall, if prior approval for reimbursement is given by the City Manager or a designee, be reimbursed 100% after successful completion. All college or other graded classes shall require a minimum grade of a "C" in order to receive such reimbursement. Books or other materials shall only be paid for if some defined benefit can be shown to the City (i.e. books become part of the City reference library). Once the employee has received their official course grade, they then attach appropriate receipts and proof of grades to the City's Tuition Reimbursement form, complete the employee portion, have their Supervisor/Department Director complete their portion and submit the completed packet to Human Resources. Once reviewed and approved by Human Resources, the approved packet is submitted to the Department of Finance for processing. The employee will receive their approved tuition reimbursement amount on the next payroll cycle.

14.2 Training Time

In general, training time during working hours shall be considered part of the job. Non-mandatory training after hours shall be considered voluntary, and no additional pay, overtime or compensatory time shall be given by the City, unless advanced special written approval is granted. Study time shall be considered completely voluntary.

14.3 Reimbursement

Although the City applauds employees for their efforts in pursuit of additional education, the City shall not pay for educational degrees or for education in general, but will only reimburse employees for required or job-related classes and training. No reimbursement shall occur if an educational class does not provide a benefit to the City. The only exception to this is, the City will reimburse employees for three general education classes, as long as the classes are a part of a degree or certificate program. These three classes must be approved, in advance, as required by this policy. There is no mileage reimbursement for travel to and from educational classes. Required forms must be completed and necessary documentation (receipts and grades) must be provided, in order to receive reimbursement. Final and conclusive determinations of the reimbursement amount shall be made by the City Manager after review of the request and recommendations by the Department Director and the Director of Human Resources/Risk Management.

Section 15: Employee Computer Purchase Program

This program allows regular employees to borrow, at no interest, up to \$2,000 to purchase a personal computer, iPad and/or similar "computer tablet" devices, and related accessories with a loan repayment plan of up to 24 months. An employee must show proof of payment (i.e. not simply proof of order), and may only have one loan outstanding under this program at any time.

To qualify for the program, employees must be a regular employee, and have successfully passed their initial probationary period.

This program will be administered pursuant to the City's Employee Computer Purchase Program Policy.

In the event of termination of employment for any reason, the entire unpaid balance shall immediately be due and payable, without notice. Any remaining unpaid balance shall first be deducted from the final paycheck to the extent allowed by law. In the event the final paycheck is not sufficient to pay off the principal sum, then any resultant balance must be paid, in full, with other resources of the borrower.

Section 16: Paid Leave

The City recognizes that there are various reasons for an employee to be away from the workplace. The following subsections describe the types of leave that may be utilized.

16.1 Comprehensive Annual Leave

Comprehensive Annual Leave (CAL) is to ensure that all employees have an adequate amount of time off each year for rest and relaxation, personal business or personal/family illness. Regular employees earn Comprehensive Annual Leave (CAL) from the date of hire.

Employees who are paid for less than 80 hours in a pay period will earn Comprehensive Annual Leave credits on a pro-rated basis for that pay period.

Employees covered by this plan will earn CAL from the date of hire by the following accrual rates:

| Annual Increment | Annual Leave (hours) | Biweekly Accrual Rate (hours/pay period) | Maximum Accumulation (hours) |
|---------------------|-------------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| Hire Date | 177 | 6.808 | 354 |
| 2-4 Years | 193 | 7.423 | 386 |
| 4-6 Years | 233 | 8.962 | 466 |
| 6-8 Years | 249 | 9.577 | 498 |
| 8-10 Years | 265 | 10.192 | 530 |
| 10+ Years | 289 | 11.115 | 578 |
| 15+ Years | 289 | 11.115 | 658 |

Annual leave will be earned on a prorated rate each pay period.

The maximum balance of unused CAL an employee may have at any one time is two times the employee's annual accrual. Employees with 15 or more years of service may accrue up to a maximum of two times the employee's annual accrual, plus 80 hours. The City Manager may grant an employee, on a case by case basis, the ability to accrue annual leave above the annual accrual limit for good cause shown.

The administration of Comprehensive Annual Leave shall be pursuant to the City's Administrative Guideline.

16.2 CAL Donations

An employee may request the use of CAL donations in extraordinary situations or if in the event of a medical hardship to the employee or an immediate family member of the employee. Refer to Section 16.5, Bereavement Leave, for definition of family member. A "medical hardship" is defined as a serious medical condition that would require the prolonged absence of the employee from duty and would result in a substantial loss of income to the employee because the employee would have and would be required to exhaust all of their available paid leave. Upon approval from the City Manager, or designee, the employee may use up to a maximum of 160 hours of donated CAL per fiscal year. The City reserves the right to request a physician's verification of the medical condition. In addition, the application of this section is independent of any federal or state mandated protected leave (e.g., FMLA, CFRA, PDL, etc.). Employees may donate a maximum of 16 hours each time CAL donations are requested, however full-time employees must have 120 hours remaining and part time employees must have a proration of 120 hours based on their full-time equivalent allocation on the Schedule of Authorized Positions remaining in their CAL bank after the donation. The City will pool all hours that are donated and employees, who are eligible and approved to use donated CAL hours will receive donations from the pool.

16.3 Executive and Administrative Leave

All Executive Management employees covered by this MCP will be provided with a total of 80 hours of Executive Leave per fiscal year. All other Management employees covered by this MCP will be provided with a total of 60 hours of Administrative Leave per fiscal year. Confidential employees are not entitled to Executive or Administrative Leave as that group is eligible to receive overtime pay.

Executive and Administrative leave will be provided at the beginning of each fiscal year and <u>must</u> be taken during the fiscal year that it is acquired. If this leave is not taken during the year it is acquired, it will be cashed out with the CAL cash out pay period in June.

The City Manager may approve up to an additional 40 hours of Executive Leave per year where the employee has provided exceptional service. Upon the recommendation of the employee's Department Director, the City Manager may approve up to an additional 40 hours of Administrative Leave per year where the employee has provided exceptional service.

16.4 CAL/Executive/Administrative Leave Time Cash Out

Employees covered by this MCP may cash out up to 120 hours of CAL per fiscal year to be taken as taxable wages at the employee's regular rate of pay without consideration for any other specialty pays (e.g., temporary upgrade) or deposited into a pre- or post-tax 457 account, provided a balance of 120 CAL hours is available after the cash out.

CAL may be cashed out twice a year, once near the beginning of December and once in June. The CAL cash out pay periods will be determined by the City's Finance Department. The City Manager in his/her sole discretion may allow an employee to cash out CAL time outside of the pay periods determined by the City's Finance Department if the employee is faced with a financial emergency; however, the employee is still only allowed two cash outs per fiscal year as outlined in this section.

Upon separation from employment from the City, an employee shall be entitled to cash out their remaining Comprehensive Annual Leave balance at their regular, non-overtime rate of pay. An employee may run out their remaining Comprehensive Annual Leave balance in lieu of a cash out (i.e. end-of-service leave) if the employee provides a minimum notice of 45 calendar days before the end-of-service leave commences. In cases with extraordinary circumstances, end-of-service leave requested with less than 45 calendar days' notice is subject to approval by the City Manager at his/her sole discretion. In all instances, written notice of separation from employment shall: 1) include the final date of employment; 2) be final and irrevocable; and, 3) may be accepted by the employee's supervisor, manager, director, or anyone in the Human Resources Department.

Executive Leave and Administrative Leave may be cashed out twice a year to be taken as taxable wages or deposited into a pre- or post-tax 457 account, once near the beginning of December and once in June. The Executive/Administrative Leave cash out pay periods will be determined by the City's Finance Department. The City Manager in his/her sole discretion may allow an employee to cash out Executive Leave or Administrative Leave outside of the pay periods determined by the City's Finance Department if the employee is faced with a financial emergency; however, the employee is still only allowed two cash outs per fiscal year as outlined in this section. Any Executive or Administrative Leave not used during the fiscal year in which it was acquired will be cashed out and included with any CAL cash out in June of each year.

16.5 Bereavement Leave

The City recognizes the importance of providing employees time off to mourn and take care of any details relating to the death of a member of their immediate family. Employees may receive a maximum of five business days for bereavement of an individual who is a member of the employee's immediate family or of other similar relation as determined by the City Manager. Employees may also use CAL time in conjunction with bereavement leave.

For the purposes of this section, immediate family (including natural, step or in-laws) shall be defined as spouse, domestic partner, mother, father, sister, brother, daughter, son, grandchild, and grandparents.

Administration of Bereavement Leave shall be pursuant to the City's Administrative Guideline.

16.6 Jury Duty and Court Related Absences

The City encourages employees to serve as jurors when called upon to do so. When an employee serves on jury duty or is called to testify on a case involving official City business, the employee receives full pay from the City. Employees are not required to submit any compensation received from the court for serving as a juror to the City.

If an employee needs to appear in court regarding a personal situation or is summoned to report to court for a civil or criminal case that does not involve official City business then the employee is required to utilize available CAL or other types of leave.

Administration of Jury Duty and Court Related Absences shall be pursuant the Administrative Guideline.

Section 17: Leave of Absence under FMLA, CFRA and PDL

17.1 Statement of Policy

It is the intent of the City to comply fully with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act of 1995 (CFRA). Nothing in this MCP is intended to restrict employees' rights under these laws. Unless otherwise provided in this section, "Leave" under this article shall mean leave of absence, including employees' rights and obligations, pursuant to the FMLA and CFRA. Further, employees shall be reasonably accommodated for any disability protected by law (e.g., Americans with Disability Act or "ADA") if the employee requests such accommodation.

17.2 Employee Notice of Leave

Although the City recognizes that emergencies arise which may require regular employees to request immediate leave, employees are required to give as much notice as possible of their need for leave. If leave is foreseeable, at least 30 days' notice is required. In addition, if an employee knows that he/she will need leave in the future, but does not know the exact date(s) (e.g., for the birth of a child or to take care of a newborn), the employee shall inform his/her supervisor as soon as possible that such leave will be needed. Such notice may be orally given. If the City determines that an employee's notice is inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the request, the City may delay the granting of the leave until it can, in its discretion adequately cover the position with a substitute.

For any foreseeable leave due to a qualifying exigency under the Armed Forces Reserves or National Guard, an employee must provide notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in advance such leave is foreseeable.

17.3 Employee Benefits While on Leave

While on leave, employees will continue to be covered by the City of Temecula group health insurance to the same extent that coverage is provided while the employee is on the job. Employees shall be responsible for the continuation of City of Temecula

provided health care insurance premiums if on a Leave for more than the 12 weeks specified by the law. Employee contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.

If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has been exhausted or expires, the City shall have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/her family member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of circumstances beyond the employee's control. The City shall have the right to recover premiums through deduction from any sums due to the City (e.g., unpaid wages, vacation pay, etc.).

Regular employees shall retain the status of employee while on Leave. However, a Leave used in conjunction with any other FMLA leave of absences, which exceeds 24 weeks, shall result in an adjustment to the employee's Comprehensive Annual Leave and salary review date.

17.4 Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves

While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to concurrently use paid accrued leaves. Similarly, the City may require an employee to concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting leave for medical or family care.

A. Employee's Right to Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently with Leave for Medical or Family Care.

Where an employee has earned or accrued paid CAL time, administrative leave, or compensatory time, that paid leave may be used concurrently for all or part of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy. Use of CAL time does not extend the leave beyond the 12 weeks specified by law.

B. City's Right to Require an Employee to Use Paid Leave When Using Leave for Medical or Family Care

Employees may exhaust their accrued leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave to the same extent that employees have the right to use their accrued leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave.

Employees are required to use accrued Compensatory Time as a first means of paid leave concurrently with any leave for medical or family care.

17.5 Medical Certification

Regular employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care for an eligible family member who has a serious health condition must provide written certification from the health care provider of the individual requiring care.

If the leave is requested because of the employee's own serious health condition, the certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or is unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position.

Regular employees who request leave to care for an injured service member who is an eligible family member of the employee must provide written certification from a health care provider regarding the injured service member's serious injury or illness.

When an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency under the Armed Forces Reserves or National Guard, an employer may require the employee to provide a copy of the covered military member's active duty orders or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the covered military member is on covered active duty or call to active duty status in a foreign country, and the dates of the covered military member's active duty service.

A. Time to Provide a Certification

When an employee's leave is foreseeable, and at least 30 days' notice has been provided, the employee must provide medical certification before the leave begins. When this is not possible, the employee must provide the requested certification to the City within the time frame requested by the City (which must allow at least 15 calendar days after the employer's request), unless it is not practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the employee's diligent, good faith efforts.

B. Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification

If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification the employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such deficiency. However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within the time frame established by this policy, the City may delay the taking of leave until the required certification is provided.

C. Second and Third Medical Opinions

If the City has reason to doubt the validity of a certification, the City may require a medical opinion of a second health care provider chosen and paid for by the City. If the second opinion is different from the first, the City may require the opinion of a third health care provider jointly approved by the City and the employee, but paid for by the City. The opinion of the third provider will be binding. An employee may request a copy of the health care provider's opinions when there is a recertification.

D. Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Leave Schedule

If an employee requests intermittent leave (a few days or hours at a time) or on a reduced leave schedule to care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition, the employee must provide medical certification that such leave is medically necessary. "Medically necessary" means there must be a medical need for the leave and that the requested leave can best be accomplished through an intermittent or reduced leave schedule.

17.6 Reinstatement upon Return from Leave

A. Right to Reinstatement

Upon expiration of leave (no more than 12 weeks or 26 weeks for military situations), an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the classification of employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent classification with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment. Employees have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and other conditions of employment than if the employee had been continuously employed during the leave period.

If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the leave, the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon. If the reinstatement date differs from the original agreement of the employee and City the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where feasible, after the employee notifies the employer of his/her readiness to return.

B. Employee's Obligation to Report Periodically on Condition

Employees may be required to periodically provide an update report and intent date to return to work. This will avoid any delays to reinstatement when the employee is ready to return.

C. Return to Work Certification

As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave was due to the employee's own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to perform job duties, the employee must obtain and present a certification from their health care provider stating that the employee is able to resume work. The return to work certification must be provided to Human Resources Department prior to the employee resuming any duties. Failure to provide such certification will result in denial of reinstatement.

If the health care provider imposes work restrictions on the employee, the return to work certification must list any work restrictions and the time frame for those restrictions. At the conclusion of the work restriction schedule, the employee must obtain and present a certification from the health care provider that the employee is able to resume work. Failure to provide such certification to the Human Resources Department will result in denial of reinstatement.

17.7 Required Forms

Employees must fill out the following applicable forms in connection with leave under this policy:

- 1. "Request for Leave of Absence Form" provided by the City.
- 2. Medical certification—either for the employee's own serious health condition or for the serious health condition of an eligible family member.
- 3. "Statement of Family Relationship" when leave is to care for an eligible family member.
- 4. Authorization for payroll deductions for benefit plan coverage continuation; and
- 5. Certification to return work from appropriate health care provider.

17.8 Pregnancy Disability Leave

It is the intent of the City to comply fully with the California Pregnancy Disability Leave Law. A pregnant employee shall be entitled to a leave of absence without pay for up to four months so long as the employee's attending physician certifies that she is physically unable to work due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical condition. During said leave of absence, the employee has the option of using CAL time to supplement any short-term disability benefits. In addition, employees who are out on Pregnancy Leave will also be designated as protected under FMLA concurrently as applicable under these laws.

Upon expiration of the approved leave, prior to the employee being reinstated, the Department Director may require a statement from the attending physician that the employee is physically capable of resuming the regular duties of her position. Failure to return to work after the authorized four (4) month leave period causes the employee to have no reinstatement rights. An employee who plans to take such a leave should give reasonable notice of the date the leave shall commence and the estimated duration of the leave.

17.9 Bonding Leave

The City shall provide paid leave to employees for the purpose of bonding with a child in connection with the birth, adoption or foster care placement of that child, equivalent to leave benefits afforded under the State's Paid Family Leave program. Employees may received up to eight weeks of bonding leave paid at the rate of 2/3 of the employee's current base salary. No other benefits shall be enhanced or reduced as a result of using this leave. Employees may use other accrued paid leave (e.g., CAL time) to supplement their pay up to 100% of their current base salary in conjunction with this leave. The eight weeks of leave need not be used consecutively; however, it is limited to the first year after the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of the child. Supporting documentation will be required. Bonding Leave may be used in combination with disability leave connected with giving birth to a child, but not until disability benefits have been exhausted.

Section 18: Military Leave

The City recognizes the importance of allowing employees time off to serve in the U.S. Armed Forces. This policy allows for employees to take time necessary for the defense of our Country.

Military Leave shall be granted in accordance with the provisions of state and federal law. An employee requesting leave for this purpose shall provide their Department Director and Human Resources, whenever possible, with a copy of the military orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or mission. Within the limits of such orders, the Department Director may determine when the leave is to be taken and may modify the employee's work schedule to accommodate the request for leave. Upon completion of military service, the employee will be reinstated with full seniority to their former position or to a comparable position, if application for reemployment is made within 90 calendar days of release from the service or related hospitalization.

An employee who is a member of the National Guard or of a reserve component of the U.S. Armed Forces shall, upon furnishing a copy of the official orders or instructions, be granted a military training leave. Training leaves will not, except in an emergency, or in the event of extenuating circumstances, exceed two (2) weeks per year, plus reasonable travel time. Upon presentation of a military pay voucher or endorsed orders, employees will receive full pay for up to 30 calendar days within one (1) fiscal year. If the leave is greater than 30 days, then the employee may utilize accrued CAL or other types of leave available to the employee.

Consistent with the City of Temecula City Council Resolution 90-067, the military leave policy has been extended, for those employee's called to active duty as follows:

- A. With appropriate documentation, the City will pay the difference between the City employee's salary and the employee's military pay; and,
- B. The difference in salary will be paid for the entire duration of active duty.

Section 19: Leaves of Absence Without Pay

This provision applies to leaves which are not covered by other provisions within the MCP.

Leave of Absence without Pay is to be used for the purpose of unforeseen circumstances related to FMLA, CFRA or pregnancy leaves or other situations where leave is requested by the employee. In all cases, Leaves without Pay must be approved by the City Manager or designee, and do not continue accrual of benefits. Employees should refer to Human Resources for specific details.

19.1 Benefits While on Leave without Pay

Employees may be required to exhaust their Comprehensive Annual Leave prior to commencing Leave of Absence without Pay status, except as provided in the Family Care Leave Policy and Holiday Pay Policy.

Employees shall not accrue Comprehensive Annual Leave time if on a Leave of Absence without Pay in excess of five (5) business days.

The City will continue payment of City provided health care insurance premiums for two (2) monthly premium payment periods.

Employees shall be responsible for the continuation of City provided health care insurance premiums if on Leave of Absence without Pay for more than two (2) monthly premium payment periods.

19.2 Procedure for Requesting Leave of Absence without Pay

The Department Director, subject to the approval of the City Manager, may grant requests for Leave of Absence without Pay. Employees generally provide a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice, in writing, to request a Leave of Absence without Pay.

Employees must give reasonable notice, to their Department Director, before returning to work.

The maximum leave which may be taken is six (6) months at the sole discretion of the City Manager. In extreme cases, and at City Manager's approval, the maximum leave may be extended beyond six months.

Employees shall retain the status of employee while on Leave of Absence without Pay. However, a Leave without Pay which exceeds 30 days shall result in an adjustment to the employee's salary and Comprehensive Annual Leave accrual review dates.

19.3 Procedure for Unforeseen Circumstances

Requests for Leave of Absence without Pay may be granted, at the discretion of the City Manager, for prolonged illness or personal reasons, including disabilities not related to worker's compensation. The above procedures will apply to a requested Leave of Absence without Pay with the exception of providing a two (2) week minimum notice. Employees who request a Leave of Absence Without Pay for illness or personal reasons must provide a written notice of such leave as far in advance as possible. In addition, the City may require a doctor's certification or other official documents in order to verify legitimacy of the employee's request.

Administration of Leaves of Absence Without Pay shall be pursuant the Administrative Guidelines

Section 20: Health and Wellness Benefits

The City shall provide each regular employee with a Health Flex Contribution of \$600 per month effective July 1, 2022. This allotment is intended to bring the City into compliance with the U.S. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("ACA"). The Health Flex Contribution may only be

used toward City-sponsored health, dental, and vision insurance premiums, or deposited into a health flexible spending account as permitted by IRS laws. Any unused portion of the Health Flex Contribution shall be forfeited by the employee (i.e. this is a "use it or lose it" benefit) and the forfeited funds will be used toward enhancing wellness and morale for all City employees.

The City shall also provide each employee with a Cafeteria Contribution of \$1,200 per month for full-time employees and pro-rated based on full-time equivalency for part-time employees. Consistent with past practice, this payment includes the CalPERS statutory minimum payment for each calendar year of this Agreement for both active employees and annuitants (retirees). The Cafeteria Contribution must be applied to all mandatory benefits as determined by the City. The first day of the month following the date of hire, an employee shall be covered under mandatory benefits as set forth in the contract between the City and the carrier(s). The employee can then apply the remainder of the Cafeteria Contribution to optional benefits provided by the City, including: health insurance premiums, dental insurance premiums, vision insurance premiums, and flexible spending accounts. Any unused portion of the \$1,200 allotment will be paid as taxable income.

The City will discuss any state or federally mandated changes in benefits that occur following adoption of this MCP. The City agrees to include two MCP covered employees as part of the formal Benefit Committee that meets to discuss annual changes in any health and welfare benefit proposal for the next plan year. The benefit committee will meet prior to the start of the open enrollment period to educate employees on benefits provided during the upcoming plan year.

20.1 Health Coverage

While this MCP is in effect, the City will continue offering the CalPERS Health Plan. The City has established an Eligible Opt Out Arrangement as a condition to an employee receiving the Cafeteria Contribution as taxable income (i.e., cash) in lieu of enrolling in City-sponsored health insurance. The conditions that must be satisfied for the Eligible Opt Out Arrangement are as follows:

- A. The employee must have minimum essential health coverage through another source (other than coverage in the individual market, whether or not obtained through Covered California).
- B. All individuals in the employee's expected tax family must have (or will have) the required minimum essential health coverage. An employee's expected tax family includes all individuals for whom the employee reasonably expects to claim a personal exemption deduction for the taxable year(s) that cover the employee's plan year to which the opt-out arrangement applies.
- C. The employee must provide reasonable documentation of minimum essential health coverage pursuant to the ACA, which must cover both the employee and all individuals in the employee's expected tax family, if any, for the applicable period. Reasonable evidence may include an attestation by the employee.
- D. Each year, during open enrollment or as otherwise required by the City, the employee must provide the City with an attestation or other reasonable documentation, subject to the City's approval confirming such alternate coverage.
- E. The employee must provide the attestation or reasonable documentation no earlier than a reasonable time before coverage starts (e.g., open enrollment). The attestation or reasonable documentation may also be provided within a reasonable time after the plan year starts.

F. According to the ACA, the City cannot make payment if the City knows or has reason to know that the employee or a member of the employee's expected tax family does not have the alternative minimum essential health coverage.

The City will meet with the Benefit Committee to discuss any changes in the City's Health Plan prior to open enrollment.

20.2 Dental Coverage

While this MCP is in effect, the City will continue to offer dental coverage to employees covered by the MCP. The City will meet with the Benefit Committee prior to selection of the dental plan for a respective Plan Year.

20.3 Vision Coverage

While this MCP is in effect, the City will continue to offer vision coverage to employees covered by the MCP. The City will meet with the Benefit Committee prior to selection of the vision care plan for a respective Plan Year.

20.4 Disability Insurance

The City mandates enrollment in short-term (STD) and long-term disability insurance to employees covered by this MCP. The City will meet with the Benefit Committee prior to selection of short-term and long-term disability insurance. The STD disability insurance elimination period of 0 - 7 calendar days for accident/in-patient hospitalization; and the STD disability insurance elimination period of 7 -14 calendar days for illness and outpatient procedures shall be the basis for the available coverage. Employees should refer to Human Resources regarding specific details on short term and long term disability coverage.

20.5 Flexible Spending Account

While this MCP is in effect and as long as lawfully permitted, the City will continue to offer a Flexible Spending Account in accordance with applicable IRS statutes in order to provide employees the greatest possible tax benefit.

Included in the Flexible Benefits Program are reimbursement accounts for eligible healthcare expenses and eligible child/dependent care expenses.

20.6 Retiree Medical, Dental and Vision Premium Reimbursement

The City will provide medical, dental and vision benefits, for eligible employees and their spouse, upon retirement from the City of Temecula, as follows:

- A. Employee must meet all of the following criteria in order to qualify for the Retiree Medical, Dental and Vision Premium Reimbursement benefit:
 - 1. Must have been hired on or before June 30, 2005 in a regular, authorized position;

- 2. Must have, upon retirement, completed a minimum of 12 years of cumulative service to the City of Temecula in a regular, authorized position status;
- 3. Must have retired from the City of Temecula on or after July 1, 2003 in accordance with CalPERS standards; and,
- 4. Must have been continuously employed in a regular, authorized position from July 1, 2005 until his or her retirement from the City of Temecula.

Part-time, regular, benefited employees shall also be eligible provided that total service in Temecula, as defined by CalPERS, meets the required minimum for this benefit and if they meet the other criteria set forth in this article.

If a retired Temecula employee reinstates to a regular benefited position with any CalPERS Agency, including the City of Temecula, this benefit will be discontinued and will not be reinstated.

This benefit will discontinue upon the death of the retired City employee.

- B. Retirement from the City of Temecula shall be defined as a CalPERS service or industrial disability retirement, and employee must be eligible for such retirement at the time of or within 120 days of separation from City service. The date of eligibility shall be the employee's official CalPERS retirement date.
- C. Employees who have retired prior to the effective date of this MCP will be eligible for this benefit in accordance with the terms of the agreement at time of retirement.
- D. Eligible City of Temecula employees (as defined above), who retire during the term of this MCP will be eligible for a reimbursement for monthly premiums (not including co-payments, prescriptions, and other non-premium expenses) purchased and paid for by them, up to the current monthly cafeteria plan allotment, for continued medical, dental and vision coverage as provided for in sections 20.1, 20.2 and 20.3 of this MCP. This payment will begin within 30 days of the employees' CalPERS retirement, and upon written notice from the employee and verification of current premium payment amounts and will continue through the term of this agreement.
- E. The amount of the actual reimbursement will be based on proof of continued medical, dental or vision insurance and verification of the premium payment for employee and spouse coverage. The maximum reimbursement is inclusive of any required employer contributions. Be advised the CalPERS medical premium on a retiree's check is the premium amount AFTER the City of Temecula's mandatory employer contribution has been deducted. Therefore, the net amount reimbursed will be the monthly premium less the mandatory employer contribution rate, as established by CalPERS annually.

If employee moves from the CalPERS service area, and coverage under the City's provided medical, dental, and/or vision plans is not available, the retiree may request that an alternate medical, dental, and/or vision plan be approved by the City, if allowed by law.

The medical, dental, and/or vision insurance benefits will continue for eligible retirees and their spouse, even after qualifying for Medicare coverage. Medicare

supplemental coverage and related premiums will be set in accordance with CalPERS benefit standards. When a retiree transitions to a CalPERS Supplement/Management Medicare or Combination medical plan, the City will automatically reimburse the standard Part B premium, not to exceed the maximum monthly allotment. Proof of coverage and premium payment will be required for retirees not enrolled in CalPERS medical, or for Medicare premiums exceeding the standard Part B premium.

The existing dental and vision benefit plans only allow continuation of coverage for retirees for 18 months after retirement. Following this time period, it is the retiree's responsibility to enroll in dental and vision coverage of their choice. In order to receive reimbursement (not to exceed the monthly allotment), the retiree needs to submit proof of coverage annually to the City's Human Resources Department.

F. For all coverages, excluding CalPERS medical, eligible retirees, or their authorized legal representative, must submit to the City's Human Resources Department, proof of coverage and the premium payment amount for the upcoming year. The timeframe for submissions will be determined by Human Resources and a schedule of the reimbursement dates, including deadlines for submitting changes will be established and distributed annually. If proof of coverage is not received the identified timeframe, reimbursements will not be made until the proof of coverage is received for that year.

It is the responsibility of the retiree to notify the Human Resources Department of any changes in premium amounts or change in status. Retroactive payments will not be made if the employee fails to submit this information on a timely basis.

Section 21: Life Insurance

The first day of the month following the date of hire, and upon proper application and acceptance by the insurance carrier, an employee will be covered under a group life insurance plan for the amount of \$50,000, with the premium being deducted from the employee's City cafeteria plan allotment amount. For employees covered by this MCP, an additional \$100,000 of group life insurance coverage will also be provided with the additional cost for said coverage being paid for by the City of Temecula.

Dependent Life Insurance and Voluntary Life Insurance is available to employees requesting additional coverage. This coverage is available outside of the City's Section 125 Cafeteria Plan and is purchased directly by the employee with no cost to the City.

Section 22: Retirement

The City has established a multi-tiered retirement benefit. Employees who are not eligible to participate in PERS will be able to participate in an alternate City approved retirement plan, as allowable by law. The City's contribution to an alternate retirement plan would be limited to the same cost as provided by the City to PERS.

Tier 3

Pursuant to the Public Employment Pension Reform Act of 2013, (also known as "PEPRA", Assembly Bill 340), those who first become employed by the City on or after January 1, 2013, and who are "new members" as that term is defined in PEPRA, shall be subject to a third tier Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) formula of 2% @ age 62, and a benefit based on the highest 36 months of employment. New members shall pay their entire PERS member contribution by payroll deduction at a rate set by PERS at 50% of normal cost as that term is defined in PEPRA. New members shall also be subject to all other applicable provisions of PEPRA. This retirement formula shall be known as Tier 3.

Tier 2

The City's second tier PERS retirement formula of 2% @ age 60 applies to employees hired on or after September 24, 2011, and up to and concluding December 31, 2012, as allowable by law. Tier two also applies to those hired at any time after September 24, 2011, who had prior membership in PERS or in another retirement system that has reciprocity with PERS, as determined by CalPERS. Highlights include the following:

- A three-year final compensation
- Annual 2% COLA
- Post-Retirement Survivor Allowance
- Fourth Level of 1959 Survivor's Benefit
- Military Service Credit as Public Service

Tier 1

The City's first tier PERS retirement formula of 2.7% @ age 55 applies to employees hired prior to September 24, 2011 as allowable by law. Highlights include the following:

- One-year final compensation
- Annual 2% COLA
- Post-Retirement Survivor Allowance
- Fourth Level of 1959 Survivor's Benefit
- Military Service Credit as Public Service.

For retirement Tiers 1 and 2, employees shall pay 3% of the CalPERS employer contribution as cost sharing under Government Code section 20516(a). The City shall pay the member contribution as Employer Paid Member Contributions (EPMC), required by CalPERS to maintain the current level of benefits for employees covered by this MCP. For employees covered by this MCP, the City will pay and report the value of EPMC as special compensation to CalPERS. Effective September 2, 2017, this benefit shall consist of paying 8% of the normal member contributions as EPMC for Tier 1 and 7% of the normal member contributions as EPMC for Tier 2, and reporting the same percentage (value) of compensation earnable (excluding Government Code 20636(c)(4)) as additional compensation.

Regular City employees are not covered under Social Security (Medicare only).

Survivor Benefits: The City of Temecula's PERS 1959 Survivor Benefit coverage (Government Code section 21574) is a higher level of cash benefit paid to survivors of an employee who dies prior to retirement. The City provides Level 4 of PERS' Survivor Benefit.

Section 23: Deferred Compensation

The City will provide for a Deferred Compensation Plan which may be utilized by any employee on an optional basis. The City reserves the right to accept or reject any particular plan and to impose specific conditions upon the use of any plan. Such plan shall be implemented without cost to the City.

Section 24: Alcohol and Drug Policy

It is the policy of the City to have a work environment free from the effects of drugs and alcohol. To accomplish this objective, employees covered by this MCP agree to abide by the City of Temecula Alcohol and Drug Policy while this MCP is in effect.

<u>Section 25: Uniform Allowance and Safety Footwear Allowance</u>

Employees covered by this MCP that are responsible for field operations and that are routinely working in the field are eligible for an annual clothing allowance of \$150. This allowance is intended to cover the cost of replacing clothes subject to abnormal wear and tear due to field hazardsbut may not be used to purchase safety shoes or any other safety clothing or equipment. The clothing allowance will be given in the first full pay period of July but will be reported to CalPERS in equal amounts with payroll throughout the fiscal year. Allowance for safety shoes, safety clothing, or safety equipment is not reportable to CalPERS.

In the event an employee covered by this MCP is required to wear safety footwear an allowance of \$175 will be provided to certain classifications as determined by the Human Resources & Risk Management Department. The safety footwear classification and rating requirement shall be assigned by the employee's Department Director or designee. Only approved safety footwear shall be worn by designated staff. The footwear allowance will be available for use beginning on July 1st of each fiscal year. The full allowance of \$175 is a use or lose it benefit each fiscal year. Designated staff shall choose safety footwear from a specified vendor determined by the Human Resources & Risk Management Department.

If an employee covered by the MCP requires specialized footwear or has unusual wear and tear because of work functions, additional footwear allowance may be provided at the discretion of the Department Director. Special requests must be supported by a formal written request and appropriate documentation, submitted to the supervisor and Risk Management for approval.

Section 26: Reasonable Accommodation of Employees with Disabilities

Because the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) requires reasonable accommodations for individuals protected under the Act(s), and because these reasonable accommodations must be determined on an individual case-by-case basis, the provisions of this MCP may be disregarded in order for the City to avoid discrimination relative to hiring, promotions, granting permanency, transfer, layoff, reassignment, termination, rehire, rates of pay, job and duty classification, seniority, leave, fringe benefits, training opportunities, hours of work, or other terms and privileges of employment.

The City has the legal obligation to meet with the individual employee to be reasonably accommodated before any adjustment is made in working conditions.

Any reasonable accommodation provided to an individual protected by the Act(s) shall not establish a past practice, nor shall it be cited or used as evidence of a past practice.

Section 27: Discipline

It is the City's belief that rules of conduct are most effective when they are written and communicated to employees and supervisors, consistently enforced, and the difference between major and minor forms of misconduct recognized. The City's goal is to administer discipline on an equitable and corrective basis. Effective discipline reinforces training by identifying rules and their reasons, correcting misconduct or improving job performance, serving as a deterrent through enforcement, and penalizing in relation to the severity of the offense and the employee's past record.

All Disciplinary actions shall be pursuant to the City's Discipline Policy.

Section 28: Classifications Covered under this Plan

All authorized positions not represented by the Teamsters 911 are eligible for the benefits outlined in this MCP unless otherwise specified.

Section 29: Reclassifications

29.1 Reclassification Studies

If any employee covered by this MCP believes they are working out of classification, he/she is entitled to request a reclassification study to be conducted by the Human Resources Department. This request must be made by October 1st so the process can be completed in time for the mid-year budget or annual budget as determined by the City. Only employees whose work has fundamentally changed due to a department reorganization, changes to staffing levels, introduction of new programs or services, and/or re-allocations of work and internal reporting relationships may be considered for reclassification.

29.2 Reclassification Request Process

Employees must make a request for a reclassification study in writing to the Human Resources Department to initiate the process. The employee will then be required to complete a Position Description Questionnaire (PDQ). If the PDQ demonstrates that the employee's work has fundamentally changed due to a department reorganization, changes to staffing levels, introduction of new programs or services, and/or reallocations of work and internal reporting relationships, then the employee will be referred to an independent consultant who can objectively complete the reclassification study. The independent consultant shall determine the methodology used to conduct the reclassification study. The results of the study will be shared with the subject employee by May 1st of the following calendar year, and the results are not appealable.

29.3 Reclassification Implementation

Employees shall be placed into his/her new position's salary range at the salary step in the range closest to his/her current salary without going under, or to the first step in the range of the reclassification, whichever is greater.

Employees whose current salary range is higher than their recommended classification's salary range shall retain their current salary range as a "y-rated" salary range. Y-rated salary ranges are not subject to cost of living increases; however, if the unmodified salary range for an employee's classification exceeds that of their y-rated classification's salary range due to a cost of living increase, the employee shall be placed in their classification's unmodified salary range at the salary step in the range closest to his/her current salary without going under.

Employees shall not serve a probationary period as a result of being reclassified, and shall retain his/her performance evaluation date and merit increase eligibility prior to being reclassified.

Appendix A – Section 4 Compensation Adjustments

Recurring Revenue Account Codes

| Fund | Department | Costing Center | Object Category | Object |
|--------------|-------------------|----------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| GENERAL FUND | BUILDING & SAFETY | 001.162.REV | 225 - BUILDING | 4264 - WEED ABATEMENT |
| GENERAL FUND | PUBLIC WORKS | 001.164.REV | 230 - PLANNING | 4255 - ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS |
| GENERAL FUND | PARKS MAINTENANCE | 001.167.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| GENERAL FUND | PARKS MAINTENANCE | 001.167.REV | 410 - LEASE/RENTAL INCOME | 4094 - LEASE INCOME |
| GENERAL FUND | POLICE | 001.170.REV | 300 - FINES & FORFEITURES | 4055 - PARKING CITATIONS |
| GENERAL FUND | POLICE | 001.170.REV | 235 - POLICE | 4059 - FINGER PRINTING FEE |
| GENERAL FUND | POLICE | 001.170.REV | 300 - FINES & FORFEITURES | 4067 - VEHICLE IMPOUND FEES |
| GENERAL FUND | POLICE | 001.170.REV | 235 - POLICE | 4069 - TAXI FEES |
| GENERAL FUND | POLICE | 001.170.REV | 235 - POLICE | 4555 - MASSAGE CITATIONS |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4008 - RESIDUAL RPTTF DISTRIBUTION |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4010 - PROPERTY TAX - SECURED |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4012 - PROPERTY TAX - UNSECURED |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4013 - SUPPLEMENTAL TAX - AB 2345 |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4016 - PROPERTY TRANSFER TAX |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 130 - FRANCHISE FEES | 4018 - FRANCHISE FEES |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 140 - TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX | 4020 - TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 120 - SALES TAX | 4024 - SALES & USE TAX - STATE |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 110 - PROPERTY TAX | 4028 - HOMEOWNER PROPERTY TAX RELIEF |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 505 - PROPERTY TAX IN LIEU OF VLF | 4043 - PROPERTY TAX IN LIEU OF VLF |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 510 - VEHICLE LICENSE FEES | 4046 - MOTOR VEHICLE IN LIEU-STATE |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 300 - FINES & FORFEITURES | 4047 - VEHICLE CODE FINES |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 205 - BUSINESS LICENSES | 4056 - BUSINESS LICENSE |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4065 - INVESTMENT INTEREST |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4070 - CASH OVER & SHORT |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 410 - LEASE/RENTAL INCOME | 4075 - RENTAL INCOME |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 610 - PECHANGA IGA | 4078 - REIMBURSEMENT-PECHANGA IGA |

| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 410 - LEASE/RENTAL INCOME | 4094 - LEASE INCOME |
|---------------------------|------------------|-------------|---|---|
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4545 - GASB 31 - FMV ON INVESTMENTS |
| GENERAL FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 615 - OTHER REIMBURSEMENTS | 4940 - SB 1186 COLLECTION STATE \$1 FEE |
| GENERAL FUND MEASURE S | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 001.199.REV | 615 - OTHER REIMBURSEMENTS | 4941 - AB1379 COLLECTION STATE \$4 FEE |
| FUND MEASURE S | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 002.199.REV | 122 - TRANSACTIONS AND USE TAX | 4019 - MEASURE S SALES TAX REVENUES |
| FUND MEASURE S | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 002.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4065 - INVESTMENT INTEREST |
| FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 002.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4545 - GASB 31 - FMV ON INVESTMENTS |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4065 - INVESTMENT INTEREST |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4545 - GASB 31 - FMV ON INVESTMENTS |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 180 - GAS TAX | 4700 - GAS TAX 2106 |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 180 - GAS TAX | 4701 - GAS TAX 2105 |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 180 - GAS TAX | 4702 - GAS TAX 2107 |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 180 - GAS TAX | 4704 - GAS TAX 2107.5 |
| GAS TAX FUND | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 100.199.REV | 180 - GAS TAX | 4706 - GAS TAX 2103 |
| TCSD | OPERATIONS | 190.180.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | OPERATIONS | 190.180.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4065 - INVESTMENT INTEREST |
| TCSD | OPERATIONS | 190.180.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4070 - CASH OVER & SHORT |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.181.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.181.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4980 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.181.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4983 - TRANSPORTATION |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.181.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4986 - EXCURSIONS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.181.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4990 - INDOOR RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | TOURNAMENTS | 4966 - OPEN GYM RESIDENT/NONRESIDENT |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | 295 - DAY CAMPS | 4984 - DAY CAMP |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4989 - PICNIC SHELTER RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4990 - INDOOR RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4992 - SPECIAL EVENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.182.REV | TOURNAMENTS | 4998 - SKATE PARK |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.183.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.183.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4070 - CASH OVER & SHORT |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.183.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4161 - SPECIAL EVENT PERMITS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.183.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4992 - SPECIAL EVENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.184.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) 4921 - INDOOR RENTALS - CONFERENCE |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.184.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | CENTER |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.184.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4989 - PICNIC SHELTER RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.184.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4990 - INDOOR RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 280 - MUSEUM ADMISSIONS | 4951 - TOURS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4953 - FIELD TRIPS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4980 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4990 - INDOOR RENTALS |

| TCSD | TCSD | 190.185.REV | 280 - MUSEUM ADMISSIONS | 4991 - ADMISSIONS |
|------|------------------|----------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 275 - AQUATICS | 4970 - SWIM LESSONS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 275 - AQUATICS | 4971 - LAP SWIM |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 275 - AQUATICS | 4972 - PUBLIC SWIM |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 275 - AQUATICS | 4973 - FAMILY NIGHT SWIM |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4974 - POOL RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 275 - AQUATICS | 4976 - NON RESIDENT SWIM |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.186.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4980 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & TOURNAMENTS 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4959 - ADULT BASKETBALL LEAGUE |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | TOURNAMENTS 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4960 - ADULT SOFTBALL |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | TOURNAMENTS 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4962 - HOCKEY |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | TOURNAMENTS 290 - SPORTS LEAGUES & | 4963 - TOURNAMENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | TOURNAMENTS | 4965 - YOUTH LEAGUES - NON RESIDENT |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4988 - FIELD RENTALS/LIGHTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.187.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4997 - CONCESSIONS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.188.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 285 - THEATER ADMISSIONS | 4901 - FRONT OF HOUSE FEES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 285 - THEATER ADMISSIONS | 4906 - THEATER-STAGEHAND LABOR REIMB. |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 285 - THEATER ADMISSIONS | 4907 - THEATER-TICKET SERVICES REIMB. |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 285 - THEATER ADMISSIONS | 4910 - THEATER-TEMECULA PRESENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4990 - INDOOR RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 280 - MUSEUM ADMISSIONS | 4991 - ADMISSIONS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4997 - CONCESSIONS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.189.REV | 270 - FACILITY RENTALS | 4999 - THEATER-EQUIPMENT RENTALS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.190.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.190.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4992 - SPECIAL EVENTS |
| | | | | |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.194.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.194.REV | 265 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES | 4980 - CLASSES/ACTIVITIES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.194.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4992 - SPECIAL EVENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.194.REV | 805 - MISCELLANEOUS | 4995 - HIGH HOPES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.195.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.196.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.197.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.197.REV | 260 - CONTRACT CLASSES | 4982 - CONTRACTED CLASSES |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.197.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| TCSD | NON-DEPARTMENTAL | 190.199.REV | 405 - INVESTMENT INTEREST | 4545 - GASB 31 - FMV ON INVESTMENTS |
| TCSD | TCSD | 190.199.REV 190.201.REV | 150 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) | 4004 - SPECIAL TAX (MEASURE C) |
| 1030 | 1030 | 130.201.NLV | 130 - 31 ECIAL TAX (IVILASURE C) | TOOT - SI LCIAL TAX (IVILASUNE C) |